Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/semcdb

# Variations on a theme: Changes in the floral ABCs in angiosperms

## Anneke S. Rijpkema<sup>a, 1</sup>, Michiel Vandenbussche<sup>b, 1</sup>, Ronald Koes<sup>c</sup>, Klaas Heijmans<sup>d</sup>, Tom Gerats<sup>d,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Applied Biology. University of Helsinki. PO Box 27. FI-00014 Helsinki. Finland

<sup>b</sup> Laboratoire de Reproduction et Développement des Plantes, Université de Lyon, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique,

Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique/Ecole Normale Supérieure, F-69347 Lyon cedex 07, France

<sup>c</sup> Institute for Molecular and Cell Biology, Graduate School of Experimental Plant Sciences, Vrije Universiteit, de Boelelaan 1085, 1081HV Amsterdam, The Netherlands

<sup>d</sup> Plant Genetics, IWWR, Radboud Universiteit Nijmegen, Heyendaalseweg 135, 6525AJ Nijmegen, The Netherlands

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 22 November 2009

Keywords: Floral homeotic genes Flower development Inflorescence development ABC-model Evo-devo

## ABSTRACT

Angiosperms display a huge variety of floral forms. The development of the ABC-model for floral organ identity, almost 20 years ago, has created an excellent basis for comparative floral development (evodevo) studies. These have resulted in an increasingly more detailed understanding of the molecular control circuitry of flower development, and the variations in this circuitry between species with different types of flowers. In this review, we analyze the variations in the molecular control of floral organ development: the changes in the floral ABCs. In addition, we discuss the control and diversification of inflorescence architecture, as this is another important source of structural diversity between flowering species.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

## Contents

1.	Introduction	100
2.	Variations in the control of floral organ development	101
	2.1. The A-function	101
	2.2. The B-function	101
	2.3. The C- and D-function	102
	2.4. The E-function	103
3.	Control and diversification of inflorescence architecture	103
4. Conclusion		104
	Acknowledgement	105
	References	105

## 1. Introduction

One of the most important contributions to our understanding of flower development was the formulation of the classic ABC-model for floral organ identity, by now almost 20 years ago. This model was based on an interpretation of Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum mutants [1], although in the first version of the Antirrhinum model no A-function was included [2]. In the early nineties, genes encoding B- and C-functions were cloned from both species, all of them members of the MADS-box gene transcription factor family [3–8]. A-function representatives were only cloned from Arabidopsis, and appeared to be an AP2 transcription factor gene [9] and the MADS-box gene AP1 [10].

The striking overall similarities in B- and C-function regulation between Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum, while fairly distantly related within the core eudicots, led to the assumption of a universal applicability of the ABC-model, although this viewpoint was not necessarily shared by the original authors and other researchers. Nevertheless, the development of the ABCmodel was a major breakthrough in the understanding of floral development and has acted as a catalyst for comparative floral development studies (floral evo-devo). These have resulted in a presently much better understanding of the variation in the molecular control of the development of different types of flowers.

In general, we can distinguish two types of variability:

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +31 24 3652910; fax: +31 24 3652490. E-mail addresses: anneke.rijpkema@helsinki.fi (A.S. Rijpkema),

michiel.vandenbussche@ens-lyon.fr (M. Vandenbussche), ronald.koes@falw.vu.nl (R. Koes), k.heijmans@science.ru.nl (K. Heijmans), t.gerats@science.ru.nl (T. Gerats). <sup>1</sup> These authors contributed equally to this work.

<sup>1084-9521/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2009.11.002

- (1) Variations in the molecular networks controlling flower development, between species with similar flower architecture. A large proportion of this variability can be explained by lineagespecific differences in gene duplications and the subsequent functional diversification, leading to variations in functional redundancy, gene loss, and subfunctionalization. Moreover, there are indications that some aspects of the regulatory network are not conserved between certain species, although the final result, a four-whorled flower with sepals, petals, stamens and carpels, is the same. This demonstrates the plasticity of (molecular) evolution to generate different mechanisms to control the same process.
- (2) Variations between species with flowers with different architectures. Given the enormous variation in floral forms among angiosperms, it is obvious that important ABC regulatory changes can be expected in flower types that deviate from the general sepal-petal-stamen-carpel set-up. Classic examples can be found in the monocots, such as the tulip flower, and the flowers of grasses which develop palea/lemma and lodicules rather than sepals and petals.

This chapter is complemented with a section on diversity of inflorescence architecture, which forms another important source of variation between flowering species.

## 2. Variations in the control of floral organ development

#### 2.1. The A-function

In Arabidopsis the A-function has been attributed to two genes: MADS-box gene *APETALA1* (*AP1*) and *AP2/ERF* transcription factor *APETALA2* (*AP2*) [9,10]. In mutants of these genes, the sepals are transformed into leaf- or bract-like organs (or develop carpelloid features), and the petals are either absent or transformed into stamen-like structures. These genes thus appear to be required for the correct specification of the identity of sepals and petals. It is debatable whether *AP1* and *AP2* truly function as perianth organ identity genes (reviewed in [11]), they more likely "specify" organ identity indirectly by establishing the floral meristem [12] and by restricting C-function gene expression to the inner floral whorls [13,14]. Functional studies on *AP1* lineage genes from other species indicate that the role of *AP1* in floral meristem specification is most likely conserved in other eudicot species, while the contribution of the gene to perianth formation is not (reviewed in [11]).

In Arabidopsis, the crucial role of the *AP2* gene in suppressing *AGAMOUS*(*AG*) in the perianth, in turn is regulated by the microRNA *AtmiR172* [15]. Recently, doubt has arisen about the universality of the role of *AP2* genes in C-function gene regulation (e.g. [11]). Mutants of Petunia and Antirrhinum *AP2* orthologs did not exhibit the same phenotype as Arabidopsis *ap2* mutants [16,17]. The *blind*(*bl*) mutant in Petunia and *fistulata* (*fis*) mutant in Antirrhinum, however, display a partial A-function phenotype, producing flowers with petals converted to antheroids [18–20].

Cartolano et al. [21] demonstrated that *BL* and *FIS* encode a homologous microRNA from the *miR169*-family. *BL* (Petunia) and *FIS* (Antirrhinum) are required to confine C-gene expression to the inner two floral whorls. Suppression is indirect, since C-function MADS-box genes do not harbor a *miR169* target site sequence and thus cannot be direct targets. *miR169* microRNAs are thought to target mRNAs of the *NF-YA* transcription factor family [22]. As NF-Y transcription factor complexes can activate target genes via CCAAT-boxes, which are present in the introns of C-function genes, Cartolano et al. [21] proposed that NF-YA members might be able to upregulate C-function gene expression. In this way, *miRBL* and *miRFIS* would repress expression of C-function genes by post-

transcriptional repression of NF-YA members, although evidence for this is still lacking.

Two completely different mechanisms thus appear to have evolved to serve the same function: restricting C-function gene activity to the inner two floral whorls. This is clearly an example of variation in molecular networks without a structural difference in flower make-up. Remarkably, the elements of the miR169-*NF-YA* machinery are also present in Arabidopsis, while the *AP2*-miR172 elements can be found in Antirrhinum and Petunia. Future research will show whether these complementary mechanisms have lost some or all function, and/or acquired new ones. Moreover, it is important to examine which of the two mechanisms (or indeed yet other mechanisms) of restricting C-function gene activity to the center of the flower are employed by other angiosperm species. This information can than help us to unravel the evolutionary history, and level of conservation, of the miRNA169 and miRNA172 pathways.

#### 2.2. The B-function

Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum both contain two B-function genes (*APETALA3*, *AP3* plus *PISTILLATA*, *PI*; and *DEFICIENS*, *DEF* plus *GLO-BOSA*, *GLO*, respectively), which are required to specify petal and stamen identity in the second and third floral whorls. All of their single mutants display the same homeotic transformation of petals to sepals and stamens to carpels. This is in accordance with the activity of the encoded proteins, DEF and GLO in Antirrhinum and AP3 and PI in Arabidopsis, as obligate heterodimers [3,4]. The expression of either of the B-function genes is initiated independently in the second and third floral whorls, but the maintenance of high levels of *DEF* and *GLO* or *AP3* and *PI* by autoregulation depends upon the presence of the heterodimeric protein complex (Fig. 1) [23–26].

While the DEF/AP3 and GLO/PI lineages originated from a gene duplication that happened an estimated 260-290 MYA [27,28], it has become clear that in many species the B-function has been further shaped and complicated by other rounds of gene duplications in both gene lineages. Of special interest for the evolution of the core eudicot flower, is a duplication in the DEF/AP3 lineage which coincided with the radiation of the core eudicots, and resulted in the euAP3 lineage (to which DEF and AP3 belong) and the TM6 lineage [29]. euAP3 and TM6 proteins can easily be distinguished by their distinct C-terminal motifs, the so-called euAP3 and paleoAP3 motifs. Proteins containing a paleoAP3 motif can be found throughout the angiosperms, while euAP3 motif containing proteins are found only in the core eudicots. Remarkably, the euAP3 C-terminal motif seems to have originated from the paleoAP3 motif by a frameshift mutation [30,31]. Many core eudicots have retained both euAP3 and TM6 gene copies, while Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum both have lost the TM6 gene [29,32]. As a consequence, the function and regulation of TM6 genes was not included in the original ABC-model.

An early indication that B-function gene regulation might deviate from the original ABC-model in some eudicot species, despite having a similar floral architecture as Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum, came from a homeotic Petunia mutant, called *green petals* (*gp*, now *Petunia hybrida DEFICIENS, PhDEF*) [33]. In this null mutant, petals fully convert to sepals, but stamen development is unaffected. The reason behind this aberrant phenotype was only discovered by a functional analysis of the Petunia B-function genes that also included the *TM6* gene copy (*Petunia hybrida TM6, PhTM6*) [32,34]. While all aspects of B-regulation described for Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum appear to be conserved for the duplicated pair of Petunia *PhGLO* genes and for *PhDEF* (*GP*), *PhTM6* clearly does not obey the ABC rules (Fig. 1). *PhTM6* is most highly expressed in whorls three and four, it does not require functional *GLO* proteins

Arabidopsis thaliana	a - eudicot	B-gene expression	confirmed dimers			
	AP3 PI	sep pet sta car - ++ ++ - - ++ ++ -	AP3-PI			
Petunia hybrida - eudicot						
	PhDEF PhTM6 PhGLO1 PhGLO2	sep pet sta car - ++ ++ - ++ ++ - ++ ++ - - ++ ++ -	PhDEF-PhGLO1 PhDEF-PhGLO2 PhTM6-PhGLO2			
Tulipa gesneriana - monocot - liliaceae						
	TGDEFA TGDEFB TGGLO	tep tep sta car ++ ++ ++ - ++ ++ ++ - ++ ++ ++ -	TGDEFA-TGGLO TGDEFB-TGGLO TGGLO-TGGLO			
Zea mais male floret - monocot - grasses						
	Silky Zmm16 Zmm18 Zmm29	pa-le lod sta car - ++ ++ - - ++ ++ - ? ?	Silky-Zmm16			
Amborella trichopoda male flower - basal angiosperm						
	Am.tr.AP3 Am.tr.PI	tep tep sta car ? ++ ++ ++ ? ++ ++ ++	?			

**Fig. 1.** B-gene function in a selection of angiosperm species. Flower diagram (left), B-gene expression (middle) and confirmed B-protein dimers (right) for *Arabidopsis thaliana* [4], *Petunia hybrida* [34], *Tulipa gesneriana* [39], *Zea mais* [47], and *Amborella trichopoda* [42]. (++) Indicates high levels of gene expression and (-) indicates a relatively low level or no expression. *Abbreviations:* sep, sepal; pet, petal; sta, stamen; car, carpel; tep, tepal; pa-le, palea and lemma; lod, lodicule.

to maintain high expression levels, and is not involved in petal identity control. Rather *PhTM6* specifies stamen identity in a fully redundant fashion with *PhDEF* [32]. In fact, all *TM6* genes analyzed so far, including representatives from Petunia, tomato, grape and Gerbera, tend to be expressed at lower levels in the petals, while they are expressed at high levels in stamens and carpels [32,35–37].

The clear difference in function between eu*AP3* and *TM6* genes, at least in Petunia, seems to be largely attributable to a different regulation of the two proteins: a highly conserved and functionally essential 5' regulatory element present in eu*AP3* type promoters [38] is completely absent in the *PhTM6* 5' regulatory unit. Although *PhTM6* is not involved in petal identity control, it can rescue petal development in a *phdef* mutant background when expressed from a constitutive promoter [32]. It therefore seems that the differences in protein sequence between *TM6* and eu*AP3* genes have not had a major impact on their functional diversification.

Other examples of a different set-up of B-class regulation or function can be found in the monocots, in which two main floral forms can be distinguished.

Animal attracting monocots (e.g. tulips and lilies) have petaloid organs, called tepals, in both the first and second whorls, which have been associated with expansion of the B-gene expression domain to the first floral whorl (Fig. 1) (e.g. [39]). This observation gave rise to the "sliding boundary" hypothesis, which describes how floral diversity can be achieved by outward or inward shifts of B-function gene expression ([40], reviewed in [41]). An analogous "fading borders" model has been proposed to explain gradual transitions in organ morphology in some basal angiosperms (Fig. 1) ([42,43], reviewed in [41]). However, the molecular changes that have allowed modulation of the B-function domain remain to be determined.

In grasses on the other hand, regulation and expression of Bgenes in the second and third floral whorls is well conserved [44–47], but in the second floral whorl, where in eudicot flowers petals form, most grasses produce lodicules: small scale-like or fleshy organs that swell at anthesis to open the floret (Fig. 1). Since maize B-function genes are capable of rescuing the corresponding Arabidopsis B-function mutant phenotypes [47], phenomena like these are probably best explained by changes in the target genes of the B-function transcription factors. It will be interesting to try to find out what changes in target genes have occurred and whether changes in the B-function proteins themselves or their interacting partners might have played a role in this.

#### 2.3. The C- and D-function

The Arabidopsis C-function gene AGAMOUS (AG) is involved in the specification of male and female reproductive organ development and in regulating floral meristem determinacy [7,48]. Two additional Arabidopsis AG subfamily genes, SHATTERPROOF1 (SHP1) and SHP2, share largely redundant functions in specifying the fruit dehiscence zone, and function together with AG in carpel development [49,50]. Another closely related Arabidopsis gene is the D-function gene SEEDSTICK (STK). STK is involved in ovule development, and is required for dispersal of the seeds when the fruit matures [50]. In promoting ovule identity, STK acts redundantly with SHP1, SHP2 and AG [50]. The D-function was originally discovered in Petunia [51] and added several years after the ABC-model was originally proposed, to represent genes involved in regulating ovule development. As D-function genes belong to the same MADS-box gene subfamily as C-function genes and several C-function genes were shown to share functions in ovule development with D-function genes, the D-function genes are perhaps better regarded as more specialized C-function genes.

A gene duplication event early in angiosperm evolution led to the divergent C- and D-function gene lineages (*AG* clade and *FLORAL BINDING PROTEIN7/11* (*FBP7/11*) clade, respectively). Representatives of the D-lineage appear widely conserved across the angiosperms [52]. Thus far, most identified *FBP7/11* clade (D-lineage) genes, including core eudicot and grass orthologs, exhibit ovule-specific expression (e.g. [50,51,53–55]). Functional studies in Petunia and rice have shown that the role of D-function genes in the regulation of ovule development is largely conserved between these two species and Arabidopsis (reviewed in [56]).

More recent gene duplications have taken place in the AG clade (C-lineage) both within the grasses [57,58] and the eudicots [52]. These have been followed by functional diversification of the gene copies, resulting in subfunctionalization and probably also neofunctionalization. Comparative analysis of the Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum AG clade genes shows the randomness of subfunctionalization: the genes that are involved in the primary aspects of C-function, PLENA (PLE) and AG, respectively, are actually paralogs [59]. As the divergence of functions between the different AG paralogs in rice and maize is so similar, it is likely that subfunctionalization of these grass AG clade genes has begun before the divergence of these two species [57,58]. Remarkably, in rice, C-function genes might act in conjunction with the YABBY gene DROOPING LEAF (DL) to specify carpel identity [60]. This mechanism seems not conserved in Arabidopsis, as the Arabidopsis DL ortholog, CRABS CLAW (CRC) plays only a partial role in carpel identity [61].

Even the AG subfamily genes of the most basal angiosperms and gymnosperms are expressed in the reproductive tissues, which sug-

gests a deeply conserved role in the production of these tissues (e.g. [42,62,63]). Overall, the C/D-function is probably the most conserved gene function among the MADS-box genes, even though many subfunctionalization events and several neofunctionalization events have taken place after gene duplications within the AG subfamily. It is interesting to speculate about the reason for the high level of conservation for this gene function. It has been suggested before that there might be a constraint on paralogs within a species such that the sum total of all functions must cover at least the ancestral function, especially for the AG subfamily, because of the critical role AG homologs play in reproduction [64]. To fully uncover the levels of redundancy, and events of subfunctionalization and neofunctionalization within the AG subfamily it will be necessary to functionally analyze the complete set of AG subfamily members from other species, as was done for Arabidopsis [50]. Such an extensive analysis performed on a number of phylogenetically well chosen species could also shed light on the meaning of the C/D-lineage split.

## 2.4. The E-function

The E-function was not included in the original ABC-model, but added later as it became clear that the A-, B-, and C-function genes need other co-factors to produce floral organs [65–68]. Floral organ identity is proposed to be regulated by multimeric complexes of ABCDE proteins (floral quartet model; [69]). In these complexes the B-, C-, and D-function proteins are thought to be important for organ-specific gene regulation, while the E-function proteins act as the mediators for the formation of the protein complexes (e.g. [70,71]).

The E-function in Arabidopsis is encoded by genes from the angiosperm-specific SEPALLATA (SEP; previously called AGAMOUS-LIKE2, AGL2) MADS-box gene subfamily [67]. Arabidopsis harbors four SEP subfamily genes: SEP1–4. The Arabidopsis sep1 sep2 sep3 triple mutant produces sepals in all floral whorls (hence the sub-family name SEPALLATA) and shows loss of meristem determinacy in the center of the flower [67]. Addition of the sep4 mutation resulted in the conversion of all floral organs into leaves [72]. Thus, only the quadruple mutant exhibits a complete loss of floral organ identity. The four Arabidopsis SEP genes show a high level of functional redundancy, though the different genes also demonstrate some diversification in functions (e.g. [73]).

Multiple *SEP* homologs are present in distantly related angiosperm lineages, suggesting that the *SEP* subfamily has experienced several early gene duplication events. The two major lineages, the *AGL9* and the *AGL2/3/4* clade, are most likely the result of a pre-angiosperm duplication, as representatives of both clades are present in the basal angiosperm Amborella [74]. Additional gene duplications have occurred in eudicots and the grass monocots [74].

As most species have multiple SEP gene copies with often redundant functions, there is only limited functional data available for SEP genes. So far only two out of the six Petunia SEP genes have been analyzed in detail. Together with a study in Arabidopsis [73], this proved that also the D-function requires SEP activity [75]. Despite a high level of functional redundancy, the Petunia SEP gene copies do also exhibit diversification in function. Also the two functionally analyzed Gerbera SEP genes show signs of subfunctionalization: GERBERA REGULATOR OF CAPITULUM DEVELOPMENT1 (GRCD1) has a function, specifically in whorl three, while GRCD2 has a function, specifically in whorl four [76,77]. The tomato LeMADS-RIN gene was also shown to have a unique function: the gene seems involved in the ripening of the tomato fruit [78]. The highly variable expression patterns of the grass LHS1 lineage SEP genes in different species suggest variation in their function in specifying organ identity and determinacy of the spikelet meristem [79]. Functional diversification of these genes is thought to have played a role in the diversification of spikelet morphology [80].

In general, the number of *SEP* genes and their expression patterns vary between species. The contribution of specific *SEP* genes to various aspects of flower development differs. Still, all available data seem to indicate a general function of SEP proteins as mediators of the formation of a set of protein complexes. So far, it has been impossible to determine if there are conserved functions specific to *SEP* gene lineages. Only by obtaining more functional data we can figure out the exact functions of all *SEP* genes.

Interestingly, extant gymnosperms do not seem to harbor any SEP genes. They do however contain the closely related AGAMOUS-LIKE6 (AGL6) genes (reviewed in [41,81]). Recently, Rijpkema et al. [82] showed that the Petunia hybrida AGL6 gene (PhAGL6, formerly called PETUNIA MADS BOX GENE4, or pMADS4) functions redundantly with the SEP genes FBP2 and FBP5 in petal and anther development. Around the same time, the characterization of two more AGL6 gene mutants was published: both the maize beardedear (bde) gene and the rice MOSAIC FLORAL ORGANS1 (MFO1) gene are involved in the regulation of floral organ identity and floral meristem determinacy [83,84], and seem to function like SEP genes. The expression pattern of the Petunia AGL6 gene, and that of its homologs from other species [82,85,86], further hints at a role in ovary, ovule and/or gametophyte development, possibly redundant with other (SEP) MADS-box genes. Conservation of a SEP-like function for both Petunia, maize and rice AGL6 genes indicates that comparative SEP functional analyses should also include members of the AGL6 subfamily. It will be interesting to find out to what extent AGL6 genes from other species, especially gymnosperms, perform a similar function.

## 3. Control and diversification of inflorescence architecture

Angiosperms widely diverged with regard to the moment (i.e. the season and/or the plant age) that they switch to flowering as well as to the number and position of flowers that are formed. Some species generate a single (solitary) flower at the end of a shoot, while others generate clusters of flowers, known as inflorescences. Inflorescences can be divided into three major classes based on their mode of development (Fig. 2) [87-89]. In racemes the shoot apical meristem grows indefinitely (i.e. it is indeterminate). It generates lateral meristems that terminate by forming a flower, resulting in a straight axis with many lateral flowers. In cymes, the apical meristem is determinate and terminates by forming a flower while growth continues from a lateral (sympodial) meristem that forms the next "sympodial" inflorescence unit. Panicles occupy an intermediate position: both apical and lateral meristems initially continue to grow and generate more lateral meristems and at some point they all terminate by forming a flower.

Theoretical modeling indicates that inflorescences may have diverged by alterations in the spatio-temporal regulation of genes specifying floral or shoot fate of meristems [89]. In a variety of species, floral meristem identity is specified by widely conserved transcription factors known as LEAFY (LFY) and APETALA1 (AP1) in Arabidopsis, together with the F-box protein UNUSUAL FLO-RAL ORGANS (UFO). Mutations in LFY and AP1 homologs (partially) convert flowers into inflorescence shoots in a variety of species (reviewed in [88]). The importance of UFO was initially underestimated as ufo mutations have at most a very weak floral meristem identity phenotype and primarily affect the development of petals and stamens in the flower [90,91]. In contrast, mutations in the Petunia and tomato UFO-orthologs DOUBLE TOP (DOT) and ANAN-THA (AN) almost completely block floral identity [92–94]. The weak ufo phenotype seems to be due to genetic redundancy as expression of a dominant negative form of UFO in Arabidopsis results in a strong flower-to-shoot transformation [95].



**Fig. 2.** Schematic representation of the development and architecture of the three major inflorescence types. Top: diagrams showing the relative position and developmental fate or identity of apical and lateral meristems in distinct inflorescences. Red color indicates floral identity, blue color non-floral or shoot identity. Bottom: diagrams of fully developed inflorescences. Flowers are indicated by red circles, meristems by blue triangles. am, apical meristem; Im, lateral meristem; sm, (lateral) sympodial meristem.

Although these floral identity genes encode very similar and functionally exchangeable proteins [92,96], their expression pattern and genetic regulation diverged widely suggesting that the upstream transcriptional circuitry has been extensively rewired during evolution [92]. For example, in Arabidopsis, UFO is expressed in the inflorescence in lateral (floral) meristems, but also on many sites that lack floral identity [97,98]. Moreover, constitutive expression of UFO or the Petunia ortholog DOT does not alter the timing and positioning of flowers [92,97]. The limiting factor that determines when and where flowers are formed in Arabidopsis is the transcription of LFY and its immediate target AP1. LFY expression increases during the vegetative phase and when it reaches a certain threshold flowering commences [99-101]. LFY and AP1 expression in the inflorescence is restricted to the lateral floral meristems and is excluded from the apical inflorescence meristem [10,102]. If, however, LFY or AP1 are constitutively expressed, precocious flowering occurs and the inflorescence apex converts into a solitary flower [103,104].

Cymes require a more complex regulation of floral fate as both apical and lateral meristems ultimately form flowers, but with a different timing [89]. In cymes like Petunia and tomato, the LFYhomologs ABERRANT LEAF AND FLOWER (ALF) and FALSIFLORA (FA) are expressed in a different and wider pattern than LFY [105,106]. ALF and FA are expressed during the vegetative phase, while in the inflorescence they are first expressed in apical meristems and with some delay in lateral meristems. The UFO-homologs DOT and AN, however, are expressed in a narrower pattern than UFO, as they are only active during flowering within apical (floral) meristems, while their expression in lateral meristems is delayed, much more than that of ALF [92,94]. That the transcription of DOT rather than ALF is the factor that delimits the formation of flowers in Petunia is supported by the observation that constitutive expression of DOT or UFO triggers precocious flowering, partially transforms leaves into petals and converts the cyme into a solitary flower – apparently because floral identity is no longer repressed in lateral inflorescence meristems [92].

Recently a new regulator was discovered that seems specific for cymes. EVERGREEN (EVG) from Petunia and COMPOUND INFLO-RESCENCE (S) of tomato encode a WUSCHEL-RELATED HOMEOBOX (WOX) transcription factor that is required for floral identity. A (near) null evg mutation strongly reduces DOT expression and converts flowers into shoots [107]. Tomato s mutants display a weaker phenotype, possibly because the 3 s alleles - two missense alleles and an unsolved rearrangement – are not null. AN expression in these s mutants is reduced rather than abolished and the formation of flowers is delayed rather than completely inhibited, resulting in increased branching and a more compound inflorescence [94]. Surprisingly, EVG and S are not expressed in the apical floral meristem where *DOT* is active, but in the newly emerging lateral sympodial meristem shortly before it becomes visible as a separate dome. This together with the finding that mutations like extrapetals and hermit, which convert the cyme into a solitary flower [105,108], fully repress the floral identity defect of evg, indicates that EVG promotes DOT expression and floral identity indirectly by an unknown mechanism [92].

*EVG* arose as a paralog of a deeply conserved *WOX* gene represented by *SISTER OF EVERGREEN* (*SOE*) in Petunia and *WOX9/STIMPY* and *WOX8/STIMPY-LIKE* in Arabidopsis [107], which are expressed throughout plant development and have important roles in patterning of the embryo and maintenance of a variety of meristems [109–111]. Since Arabidopsis lacks a true *EVG* homolog with a similar expression pattern and since *EVG* is fully redundant in Petunia mutants with solitary flowers, it presumably represents a key factor in the evolution of cymose architecture. Given that tomato *s* mutants phenocopy the more compound cymes of other Solanaceae, it appears that modulation of *EVG/S* activity was also important for the further diversification of cymes [94].

## 4. Conclusion

Evo-devo studies on floral development confirm once more the principle of 'never change a winning team' in the sense that the team members largely remain the same. The combinatorial recruitment of MADS-box proteins to specify floral organ identity in angiosperms appears to be cast in iron. The majority of variations on the ABC theme thus far seem to reside in the regulatory circuitry of this winning team, rather than in changes in the protein structure of the respective team members. Better understanding of angiosperm floral diversity at the molecular level therefore might be obtained from an increased focus on the evolution of both cis and trans ABC regulatory elements and variations in downstream target gene control. That being said, it is astonishing to see how in different species sometimes different genes are involved in controlling the same structure (C-function control) and sometimes the same genes induce different structures (LEAFY and UFO in diverse inflorescence types).

## Acknowledgement

A.S.R. is funded by Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research grant 825.08.037.

#### References

- Coen ES, Meyerowitz EM. The war of the whorls: genetic interactions controlling flower development. Nature 1991;353:31–7.
- [2] Schwarz-Sommer Z, Huijser P, Nacken W, Saedler H, Sommer H. Genetic control of flower development by homeotic genes in *Antirrhinum majus*. Science 1990;250:931–6.
- [3] Trobner W, Ramirez L, Motte P, Hue I, Huijser P, Lonnig W, et al. GLOBOSA: a homeotic gene which interacts with DEFICIENS in the control of Antirrhinum floral organogenesis. EMBO J 1992;11(13):4693–704.
- [4] Goto K, Meyerowitz E. Function and regulation of the Arabidopsis floral homeotic gene PISTILLATA. Genes Dev 1994;8(13):1548–60.
- [5] Sommer H, Beltran J, Huijser P, Pape H, Lonnig W, Saedler H, et al. DEFICIENS, a homeotic gene involved in the control of flower morphogenesis in Antirrhinum majus: the protein shows homology to transcription factors. EMBO J 1990;9(3):605–13.
- [6] Jack T, Brockman L, Meyerowitz E. The homeotic gene APETALA3 of Arabidopsis thaliana encodes a MADS box and is expressed in petals and stamens. Cell 1992;68:683–97.
- [7] Yanofsky MF, Ma H, Bowman JL, Drews GN, Feldmann KA, Meyerowitz EM. The protein encoded by the Arabidopsis homeotic gene agamous resembles transcription factors. Nature 1990;346:35–9.
- [8] Bradley D, Carpenter R, Sommer H, Hartley N, Coen E. Complementary floral homeotic phenotypes result from opposite orientations of a transposon at the plena locus of Antirrhinum. Cell 1993;72:85–95.
- [9] Jofuku KD, Boer BGWd, Montagu MV, Okamuro JK. Control of Arabidopsis flower and seed development by the homeotic gene APETALA2. Plant Cell 1994;6(9):1211–25.
- [10] Mandel AM, Gustafson-Brown C, Savidge B, Yanofsky MF. Molecular characterization of the Arabidopsis floral homeotic gene APETALA1. Nature 1992;360(6401):273-7.
- [11] Litt A. An evaluation of A-function: evidence from the *APETALA1* and *APETALA2* gene lineages. Int J Plant Sci 2007;168:73–91.
- [12] Schultz EA, Haughn GW. Genetic analysis of the floral initiation process (FLIP) in Arabidopsis. Development 1993;119(3):745–65.
- [13] Drews GN, Bowman JL, Meyerowitz EM. Negative regulation of the Arabidopsis homeotic gene AGAMOUS by the APETALA2 product. Cell 1991;65(6):991–1002.
- [14] Gregis V, Sessa A, Dorca-Fornell C, Kater M. The Arabidopsis floral meristem identity genes AP1, AGL24 and SVP directly repress class B and C floral homeotic genes. Plant J 2009;60:626–37.
- [15] Chen X. A microRNA as a translational repressor of APETALA2 in Arabidopsis flower development. Science 2004;303(5666):2022–5.
- [16] Maes T, Van de Steene N, Zethof J, Karimi M, D'Hauw M, Mares G, et al. Petunia AP2-like genes and their role in flower and seed development. Plant Cell 2001;13(2):229–44.
- [17] Keck E, McSteen P, Carpenter R, Coen E. Separation of genetic functions controlling organ identity in flowers. EMBO J 2003;22(5):1058–66.
- [18] Tsuchimoto S, van der Krol AR, Chua NH. Ectopic expression of *pMADS3* in transgenic Petunia phenocopies the Petunia *blind* mutant. Plant Cell 1993;5(8):843–53.
- [19] Motte P, Saedler H, Schwarz-Sommer Z. STYLOSA and FISTULATA: regulatory components of the homeotic control of Antirrhinum floral organogenesis. Development 1998;125(1):71–84.
- [20] McSteen PC, Vincent CA, Doyle S, Carpenter R, Coen ES. Control of floral homeotic gene expression and organ morphogenesis in Antirrhinum. Development 1998;125(13):2359–69.
- [21] Cartolano M, Castillo R, Efremova N, Kuckenberg M, Zethof J, Gerats T, et al. A conserved microRNA module exerts homeotic control over Petunia

hybrida and Antirrhinum majus floral organ identity. Nat Genet 2007;39(7): 901–5.

- [22] Jones-Rhoades MW, Bartel DP. Computational identification of plant microRNAs and their targets, including a stress-induced miRNA. Mol Cell 2004;14:787–99.
- [23] Lamb RS, Hill TA, Tan QK-G, Irish VF. Regulation of APETALA3 floral homeotic gene expression by meristem identity genes. Development 2002;129(9):2079–86.
- [24] Honma T, Goto K. The Arabidopsis floral homeotic gene PISTILLATA is regulated by discrete cis-elements responsive to induction and maintenance signals. Development 2000;127(10):2021–30.
- [25] Schwarz-Sommer Z, Hue I, Huijser P, Flor P, Hansen R, Tetens F, et al. Characterization of the Antirrhinum floral homeotic MADS-box gene deficiens: evidence for DNA binding and autoregulation of its persistent expression throughout flower development. EMBO J 1992;11(1):251–63.
- [26] Jack T, Fox GL, Meyerowitz EM. Arabidopsis homeotic gene APETALA3 ectopic expression: transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation determine floral organ identity. Cell 1994;76:703–16.
- [27] Kim S, Yoo M-J, Albert VA, Farris JS, Soltis PS, Soltis DE. Phylogeny and diversification of B-function MADS-box genes in angiosperms: evolutionary and functional implications of a 260-million-year-old duplication. Am J Bot 2004;91(12):2102–18.
- [28] Hernandez-Hernandez T, Martinez-Castilla LP, Alvarez-Buylla ER. Functional diversification of B MADS-box homeotic regulators of flower development: adaptive evolution in protein–protein interaction domains after major gene duplication events. Mol Biol Evol 2006;24(2):465–81.
- [29] Kramer EM, Dorit RL, Irish VF. Molecular evolution of genes controlling petal and stamen development: duplication and divergence within the *APETALA3* and *PISTILLATA* MADS-box gene lineages. Genetics 1998;149(2): 765–83.
- [30] Kramer E, Su H, Wu C, Hu J. A simplified explanation for the frameshift mutation that created a novel C-terminal motif in the APETALA3 gene lineage. BMC Evol Biol 2006;6(30).
- [31] Vandenbussche M, Theissen G, Van de Peer Y, Gerats T. Structural diversification and neo-functionalization during floral MADS-box gene evolution by C-terminal frameshift mutations. Nucl Acids Res 2003;31(15):4401–9.
- [32] Rijpkema AS, Royaert S, Zethof J, van der Weerden G, Gerats T, Vandenbussche M. Analysis of the Petunia TM6 MADS box gene reveals functional divergence within the DEF/AP3 lineage. Plant Cell 2006;18(8):1819–32.
- [33] van der Krol AR, Brunelle A, Tsuchimoto S, Chua NH. Functional analysis of Petunia floral homeotic MADS box gene pMADS1. Genes Dev 1993;7(7):1214–28.
- [34] Vandenbussche M, Zethof J, Royaert S, Weterings K, Gerats T. The duplicated B-class heterodimer model: whorl-specific effects and complex genetic interactions in Petunia hybrida flower development. Plant Cell 2004;16(3):741–54.
- [35] de Martino G, Pan I, Emmanuel E, Levy A, Irish VF. Functional analyses of two tomato APETALA3 genes demonstrate diversification in their roles in regulating floral development. Plant Cell 2006;18(8):1833–45.
- [36] Broholm SK, Pöllänen E, Ruokolainen S, Tähtiharju S, Kotilainen M, Albert VA, et al. Functional characterization of B class MADS-box transcription factors in *Gerbera hybrida*. J Exp Bot; in press, doi:10.1093/jxb/erp279.
- [37] Poupin MJ, Federici F, Medinaa C, Matus JT, Timmermann T, Arce-Johnson P. Isolation of the three grape sub-lineages of B-class MADS-box TM6, PISTILLATA and APETALA3 genes which are differentially expressed during flower and fruit development. Gene 2007;404(1-2):10-24.
- [38] Hill T, Day C, Zondlo S, Thackeray A, Irish V. Discrete spatial and temporal cis-acting elements regulate transcription of the Arabidopsis floral homeotic gene APETALA3. Development 1998;125(9):1711–21.
- [39] Kanno A, Saeki H, Kameya T, Saedler H, Theissen G. Heterotopic expression of class B floral homeotic genes supports a modified ABC model for tulip (*Tulipa* gesneriana). Plant Mol Biol 2003;52(4):831–41.
- [40] Van Tunen AJ, Eikelboom W, Angenent GC. Floral organogenesis in *Tulipa*. Flow News 1993;16:33–8.
- [41] Theissen G, Melzer R. Molecular mechanisms underlying origin and diversification of the angiosperm flower. Ann Bot 2007;100(3):603–19.
- [42] Kim S, Koh J, Yoo M-J, Kong H, Hu Y, Ma H, et al. Expression of floral MADS-box genes in basal angiosperms: implications for the evolution of floral regulators. Plant J 2005;43(5):724–44.
- [43] Buzgo M, Soltis PS, Soltis DE. Floral developmental morphology of Amborella trichopoda (Amborellaceae). Int J Plant Sci 2004;165:925–47.
- [44] Moon Y, Jung J, Kang H, An G. Identification of a rice APETALA3 homologue by yeast two-hybrid screening. Plant Mol Biol 1999;40(1):167–77.
- [45] Ambrose BA, Lerner DR, Ciceri P, Padilla CM, Yanofsky MF, Schmidt RJ. Molecular and genetic analyses of the *Silky1* gene reveal conservation in floral organ specification between eudicots and monocots. Mol Cell 2000;5: 569–79.
- [46] Whipple CJ, Zanis MJ, Kellogg EA, Schmidt RJ. Conservation of B class gene expression in the second whorl of a basal grass and outgroups links the origin of lodicules and petals. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104(3):1081–6.
- [47] Whipple CJ, Ciceri P, Padilla CM, Ambrose BA, Bandong SL, Schmidt RJ. Conservation of B-class floral homeotic gene function between maize and Arabidopsis. Development 2004;131(24):6083–91.
- [48] Lenhard M, Bohnert A, Jurgens G, Laux T. Termination of stem cell maintenance in Arabidopsis floral meristems by interactions between WUSCHEL and AGAMOUS. Cell 2001;105(6):805–14.

- [49] Liljegren SJ, Ditta GS, Eshed Y, Savidge B, Bowman JL, Yanofsky MF. SHAT-TERPROOF MADS-box genes control seed dispersal in Arabidopsis. Nature 2000;404:766–70.
- [50] Pinyopich A, Ditta GS, Savidge B, Liljegren SJ, Baumann E, Wisman E, et al. Assessing the redundancy of MADS-box genes during carpel and ovule development. Nature 2003;424:85–8.
- [51] Angenent GC, Franken J, Busscher M, van Dijken A, van Went JL, Dons H, et al. A novel class of MADS box genes is involved in ovule development in Petunia. Plant Cell 1995;7(10):1569–82.
- [52] Kramer EM, Jaramillo MA, Di Stilio VS. Patterns of gene duplication and functional evolution during the diversification of the AGAMOUS subfamily of MADS box genes in angiosperms. Genetics 2004;166(2): 1011–23.
- [53] Dreni L, Jacchia S, Fornara F, Fornari M, Ouwerkerk PBF, An G, et al. The D-lineage MADS-box gene OsMADS13 controls ovule identity in rice. Plant J 2007;52(4):690–9.
- [54] Schmidt RJ, Veit B, Mandel MA, Mena M, Hake S, Yanofsky MF. Identification and molecular characterization of ZAG1, the maize homolog of the Arabidopsis floral homeotic gene AGAMOUS. Plant Cell 1993;5(7): 729–37.
- [55] Boss PK, Sensi E, Hua C, Davies C, Thomas MR. Cloning and characterisation of grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) MADS-box genes expressed during inflorescence and berry development. Plant Sci 2002;162(6):887–95.
- [56] Colombo L, Battaglia R, Kater MM. Arabidopsis ovule development and its evolutionary conservation. Trends Plant Sci 2008;13(8):444–50.
- [57] Yamaguchi T, Lee DY, Miyao A, Hirochika H, An G, Hirano H-Y. Functional diversification of the two C-class MADS box genes OSMADS3 and OSMADS58 in Oryza sativa. Plant Cell 2006;18(1):15–28.
- [58] Mena M, Ambrose BA, Meeley RB, Briggs SP, Yanofsky MF, Schmidt RJ. Diversification of C-function activity in maize flower development. Science 1996;274(5292):1537–40.
- [59] Causier B, Castillo R, Zhou J, Ingram R, Xue Y, Schwarz-Sommer Z, et al. Evolution in action: following function in duplicated floral homeotic genes. Curr Biol 2005;15(16):1508–12.
- [60] Yamaguchi T, Nagasawa N, Kawasaki S, Matsuoka M, Nagato Y, Hirano H-Y. The YABBY gene DROOPING LEAF regulates carpel specification and midrib development in Oryza sativa. Plant Cell 2004;16(2):500–9.
- [61] Alvarez J, Smyth DR. CRABS CLAW and SPATULA, two Arabidopsis genes that control carpel development in parallel with AGAMOUS. Development 1999;126(11):2377–86.
- [62] Tandre K, Albert VA, Sundås A, Engström P. Conifer homologues to genes that control floral development in angiosperms. Plant Mol Biol 1995;27(1): 69–78.
- [63] Winter K-U, Becker A, Munster T, Kim JT, Saedler H, Theissen G. MADS-box genes reveal that gnetophytes are more closely related to conifers than to flowering plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96(13): 7342-7.
- [64] Zahn LM, Leebens-Mack JH, Arrington JM, Hu Y, Landherr LL, dePamphilis CW, et al. Conservation and divergence in the AGAMOUS subfamily of MADS-box genes: evidence of independent sub- and neofunctionalization events. Evol Dev 2006;8(1):30–45.
- [65] Pnueli L, Hareven D, Broday L, Hurwitz C, Lifschitz E. The *TM5* MADS box gene mediates organ differentiation in the three inner whorls of tomato flowers. Plant Cell 1994;6(2):175–86.
- [66] Honma T, Goto K. Complexes of MADS-box proteins are sufficient to convert leaves into floral organs. Nature 2001;409:525–9.
- [67] Pelaz S, Ditta GS, Baumann E, Wisman E, Yanofsky MF. B and C floral organ identity functions require SEPALLATA MADS-box genes. Nature 2000;405:200–3.
- [68] Angenent GC, Franken J, Busscher M, Weiss D, van Tunen AJ. Co-suppression of the petunia homeotic gene *fbp2* affects the identity of the generative meristem. Plant J 1994;5(1):33–44.
- [69] Theissen G, Saedler H. Floral quartets. Nature 2001;409:469-71.
- [70] Melzer R, Verelst W, Theissen G. The class E floral homeotic protein SEPAL-LATA3 is sufficient to loop DNA in 'floral quartet'-like complexes in vitro. Nucl Acids Res 2009;37(1):144-57.
- [71] Immink R, Tonaco I, de Folter S, Shchennikova A, van Dijk A, Busscher-Lange J, et al. SEPALLATA3: the 'glue' for MADS box transcription factor complex formation. Genome Biol 2009;10(2):R24.
- [72] Ditta G, Pinyopich A, Robles P, Pelaz S, Yanofsky MF. The SEP4 gene of Arabidopsis thaliana functions in floral organ and meristem identity. Curr Biol 2004;14(21):1935–40.
- [73] Favaro R, Pinyopich A, Battaglia R, Kooiker M, Borghi L, Ditta G, et al. MADSbox protein complexes control carpel and ovule development in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 2003;15(11):2603–11.
- [74] Zahn LM, Kong H, Leebens-Mack JH, Kim S, Soltis PS, Landherr LL, et al. The evolution of the SEPALLATA subfamily of MADS-box genes: a preangiosperm origin with multiple duplications throughout angiosperm history. Genetics 2005;169(4):2209–23.
- [75] Vandenbussche M, Zethof J, Souer E, Koes R, Tornielli GB, Pezzotti M, et al. Toward the analysis of the Petunia MADS box gene family by reverse and forward transposon insertion mutagenesis approaches: B, C, and D floral organ identity functions require SEPALLATA-like MADS box genes in Petunia. Plant Cell 2003;15(11):2680–93.
- [76] Kotilainen M, Elomaa P, Uimari A, Albert VA, Yu D, Teeri TH. GRCD1, an AGL2-like MADS box gene, participates in the C function dur-

ing stamen development in Gerbera hybrida. Plant Cell 2000;12(10): 1893–902.

- [77] Uimari A, Kotilainen M, Elomaa P, Yu D, Albert VA, Teeri TH. Integration of reproductive meristem fates by a SEPALLATA-like MADS-box gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004;101(44):15817–22.
- [78] Vrebalov J, Ruezinsky D, Padmanabhan V, White R, Medrano D, Drake R, et al. A MADS-box gene necessary for fruit ripening at the tomato *ripening-inhibitor* (*Rin*) locus. Science 2002;296:343–6.
- [79] Malcomber ST, Kellogg EA. Heterogeneous expression patterns and separate roles of the SEPALLATA gene LEAFY HULL STERILE1 in grasses. Plant Cell 2004;16(7):1692–706.
- [80] Reinheimer R, Malcomber ST, Kellogg EA. Evidence for distinct roles of the SEPALLATA gene LEAFY HULL STERILE1 in Eleusine indica and Megathyrsus maximus (Poaceae). Evol Dev 2006;8(3):293–303.
- [81] Becker A, Theissen G. The major clades of MADS-box genes and their role in the development and evolution of flowering plants. Mol Phylogenet Evol 2003;29(3):464–89.
- [82] Rijpkema AS, Zethof J, Gerats T, Vandenbussche M. The Petunia AGL6 gene has a SEPALLATA-like function in floral patterning. Plant J 2009;60(1):1–9.
- [83] Thompson BE, Bartling L, Whipple C, Hall DH, Sakai H, Schmidt R, et al. bearded-ear encodes a MADS box transcription factor critical for maize floral development. Plant Cell 2009;21:2578–90.
- [84] Ohmori S, Kimizu M, Sugita M, Miyao A, Hirochika H, Uchida E, et al. MOSAIC FLORAL ORGANS1, an AGL6-like MADS box gene regulates floral organ identity and meristem fate in rice. Plant Cell 2009;21:3008–25.
- [85] Schauer SE, Schlüter PM, Baskar R, Gheyselinck J, Bolaños A, Curtis MD, et al. Intronic regulatory elements determine the divergent expression patterns of AGAMOUS-LIKE6 subfamily members in Arabidopsis. Plant J 2009;59(6):987–1000.
- [86] Reinheimer R, Kellogg EA. Evolution of AGL6-like MADS box genes in grasses (Poaceae): ovule expression is ancient and palea expression is new. Plant Cell 2009;21:2591–605.
- [87] Angenent GC, Stuurman J, Snowden KC, Koes R. Use of Petunia to unravel plant meristem functioning. Trends Plant Sci 2005;10(5):243–50.
- [88] Benlloch R, Berbel A, Serrano-Mislata A, Madueno F. Floral initiation and inflorescence architecture: a comparative view. Ann Bot 2007;100(3): 659-76.
- [89] Prusinkiewicz P, Erasmus Y, Lane B, Harder LD, Coen ES. Evolution and development of inflorescence architectures. Science 2007;316(5830):1452–6.
- [90] Levin JZ, Meyerowitz EM. UFO: an Arabidopsis gene involved in both floral meristem and floral organ development. Plant Cell 1995;7(5):529–48.
- [91] Wilkinson MD, Haughn GW. UNUSUAL FLORAL ORGANS controls meristem identity and organ primordia fate in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 1995;7(9):1485–99.
- [92] Souer E, Rebocho AB, Bliek M, Kusters E, de Bruin RAM, Koes R. Patterning of inflorescences and flowers by the F-box protein DOUBLE TOP and the LEAFY homolog ABERRANT LEAF AND FLOWER of Petunia. Plant Cell 2008;20(8):2033–48.
- [93] Allen KD, Sussex IM. Falsiflora and anantha control early stages of floral meristem development in tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.). Planta 1996;200(2):254–64.
- [94] Lippman ZB, Cohen O, Alvarez JP, Abu-Abied M, Pekker I, Paran I, et al. The making of a compound inflorescence in tomato and related nightshades. PLoS Biol 2008;6(11):e288.
- [95] Chae E, Tan QKG, Hill TA, Irish VF. An Arabidopsis F-box protein acts as a transcriptional co-factor to regulate floral development. Development 2008;135(7):1235–45.
- [96] Maizel A, Busch MA, Tanahashi T, Perkovic J, Kato M, Hasebe M, et al. The floral regulator LEAFY evolves by substitutions in the DNA binding domain. Science 2005;308(5719):260–3.
- [97] Lee I, Wolfe DS, Nilsson O, Weigel D. A *LEAFY* co-regulator encoded by UNUSUAL FLORAL ORGANS. Curr Biol 1997;7(2):95-104.
  [98] Long JA, Barton MK. The development of apical embryonic pattern in Ara-
- [98] Long JA, Barton MK. The development of apical embryonic pattern in Arabidopsis. Development 1998;125(16):3027–35.
- [99] Blazquez MA, Weigel D. Integration of floral inductive signals in Arabidopsis. Nature 2000;404(6780):889–92.
- [100] Blazquez MA, Soowal LN, Lee I, Weigel D. LEAFY expression and flower initiation in Arabidopsis. Development 1997;124(19):3835–44.
- [101] Hempel FD, Weigel D, Mandel MA, Ditta G, Zambryski PC, Feldman LJ, et al. Floral induction and determination: where is flowering controlled? Development 1997;124(19):3845–53.
- [102] Weigel D, Alvarez J, Smyth DR, Yanofsky MF, Meyerowitz EM. LEAFY controls floral meristem identity in Arabidopsis. Cell 1992;69(5):843–59.
- [103] Weigel D, Nilsson O. A developmental switch sufficient for flower initiation in diverse plants. Nature 1995;377:495–500.
- [104] Mandel MA, Yanofsky MF. A gene triggering flower formation in Arabidopsis. Nature 1995;377(6549):522–4.
- [105] Souer E, van der Krol A, Kloos D, Spelt C, Bliek M, Mol J, et al. Genetic control of branching pattern and floral identity during Petunia inflorescence development. Development 1998;125(4):733–42.
- [106] Molinero-Rosales N, Jamilena M, Zurita S, Gomez P, Capel J, Lozano R. FALSI-FLORA, the tomato orthologue of FLORICAULA and LEAFY, controls flowering time and floral meristem identity. Plant J 1999;20(6):685–93.
- [107] Rebocho AB, Bliek M, Kusters E, Castel R, Procissi A, Roobeek I, et al. Role of EVERGREEN in the development of the cymose Petunia inflorescence. Dev Cell 2008;15(3):437–47.

- [108] Koes R, Bliek M, Castel R, Kusters E, Procissi A, Rebocho A, et al. Development of the Petunia inflorescence. In: Gerats T, Strommer J, editors. Petunia: evolutionary, developmental and physiological genetics. Springer; 2009. p. 179–97.
- [109] Wu X, Chory J, Weigel D. Combinations of WOX activities regulate tissue proliferation during Arabidopsis embryonic development. Dev Biol 2007;309(2):306–16.
- [110] Wu X, Dabi T, Weigel D. Requirement of homeobox gene STIMPY/WOX9 for Arabidopsis meristem growth and maintenance. Curr Biol 2005;15(5):436–40.
- [111] Breuninger H, Rikirsch E, Hermann M, Ueda M, Laux T. Differential expression of WOX genes mediates apical-basal axis formation in the Arabidopsis embryo. Dev Cell 2008;14(6):867–76.